# SUPREME COURT FILED

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

NOV 1 7 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

GERAWAN FARMING, INC. Petitioner,

Deputy

V.

AGRICULTURAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD,
Defendant and Respondent,
UNITED FARM WORKERS OF AMERICA,
Real Party in Interest.

GERAWAN FARMING, INC., Plaintiff and Appellant,

V.

AGRICULTURAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD,
Defendant and Respondent,
UNITED FARM WORKERS OF AMERICA,
Real Party in Interest and Respondent.

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F068526 ALRB Case No. 2013-MMC-003 [39 ALRB No. 17]

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F068676 Fresno County Superior Court, Case No. 13CECG01408 Hon. Donald S. Black, Judge

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Whether the Agricultural Labor Relations Act ("ALRA") mandatory mediation and conciliation ("MMC") process for employers and certified unions that have never reached a first collective bargaining agreement violates on its face the equal protection clauses of the federal and California constitutions.
- 2. Whether the MMC statute unconstitutionally delegates legislative authority.
- 3. Whether the ALRA permits an employer to oppose a certified union's request for referral to the MMC process by contending that the union "abandoned" the bargaining unit.

See Order of August 19, 2015 ("The issues to be briefed and argued are limited to the issues raised in the petitions for review.").

#### INTRODUCTION

Twenty-five years after the California Legislature enacted the Agricultural Labor Relations Act ("ALRA") in 1975, it was clear that the statute had failed to achieve the Legislature's goal of providing millions of farm workers the right to collectively bargain with their employers, so as to improve farm workers' lives and the lives of their families. Many farm workers voted for union representation but, as of 2002, fewer than half of the agricultural employers whose employees had elected a union since 1975 had ever agreed to a collective bargaining agreement, and fewer farm workers had union contracts than prior to enactment of the ALRA. In 2002, a frustrated Legislature amended the ALRA to provide a mandatory

mediation and conciliation ("MMC") process for certified unions and employers that had failed to reach first contracts. The Legislature concluded these amendments were necessary to

ensure a more effective collective bargaining process . . . and thereby more fully attain the purposes of the [ALRA], ameliorate the working conditions and economic standing of agricultural employees, create stability in the agricultural labor force, and promote California's well-being by ensuring stability in its most vital industry.

Stats. 2002, ch. 1145, §1.

After several years of litigation, the Third Appellate District rejected employer constitutional challenges to the MMC statute in *Hess Collection Winery v. ALRB* (2006) 140 Cal. App. 4th 1584, 1603-10, *review denied*. Nonetheless, many agricultural employers still do not accept MMC just as they never accepted that they had a legal duty to bargain in good faith with certified unions prior to adoption of the MMC statute. In this case, Gerawan Farming, Inc. ("Gerawan") received a renewed demand for bargaining from the United Farm Workers of America ("UFW"), and then resisted, challenged, and delayed the MMC process at every step while at the same time illegally campaigning to have UFW removed as the bargaining unit's representative. The Agricultural Labor Relations Board ("ALRB") ultimately issued a final order in 2013 finally establishing a reasonable, initial collective bargaining agreement for a bargaining unit that voted for union representation in 1990.

That agreement, however, has never gone into effect. At Gerawan's urging, the Fifth Appellate District stayed enforcement of the ALRB's final order. The Fifth District then struck down the MMC statute as a facial violation of equal protection and an unlawful delegation of legislative authority and also held that the ALRB should not have referred the parties to MMC without permitting Gerawan to challenge UFW's status as the

certified bargaining representative. The Fifth District erred in deciding each of these issues.

The Fifth District's equal protection analysis harkens back to outdated Lochner-era jurisprudence about economic regulation. It is now settled law that economic regulation may treat businesses differently as long as the regulation is rationality related to a legitimate government purpose. The MMC statute provides for the ALRB to resolve labor contract disputes, if necessary, through a process that involves consideration of the details of each dispute and a common list of rational statutory factors for resolving such disputes. The individualized process serves the legitimate government purposes of encouraging parties to resolve their own disputes, and of bringing labor disputes to a reasonable conclusion, tailored to each dispute, when that is not possible. As such, the statute is not a facial violation of equal protection. The Court of Appeal's ruling that the MMC process poses too great a risk of "arbitrary" decision-making ignores both the statutory safeguards against arbitrary administrative action and settled equal protection jurisprudence that a hypothetical risk of arbitrary or discriminatory administration does not make a statute unconstitutional on its face.

The Fifth District's analysis of the delegation issue is equally out of step with modern jurisprudence. This Court has upheld statutes that provide the same type of guidance for implementation. This Court has rejected the contention that the Legislature must set out detailed standards that predetermine the outcome of administrative processes in circumstances in which such a formula would be inappropriate. The MMC statute satisfies constitutional requirements for providing guidance to administrators and for procedural safeguards against arbitrary administration. It also bears emphasis that there is a long history of statutes requiring interest arbitration as a means of resolving labor disputes. The Fifth District's analysis ignored

that history and the many court decisions that uphold similar interest arbitration statutes against similar delegation challenges.

The Fifth District also erred as a matter of statutory interpretation by holding that an employer may challenge the status of a certified union representative by claiming, in response to the union's request for referral to MMC, that the union "abandoned" the bargaining unit. The Fifth District acknowledged that, under the ALRA, a union elected by workers through a secret ballot election and certified by the ALRB remains the certified representative for purposes of bargaining unless *workers* decertify the union. The Legislature felt so strongly about precluding agricultural employer involvement in representational issues that the ALRA differs from the National Labor Relations Act ("NLRA") on which it was modeled: employers sometimes may raise challenges to a union's representative status under the NLRA, but never under the ALRA. *Compare* Labor Code § 1156.3 *with* 29 U.S.C. § 159(c)(1)(B); *see also F&P Growers v. ALRB* (1985) 168 Cal. App. 3d 667, 672-78.

The Court of Appeal recognized that, under the language of the ALRA and long-standing ALRB and Court of Appeal precedent, an employer may not challenge a union's majority status as a defense to the duty to bargain. There is no basis in the language or history of the MMC statute for distinguishing, as the Court of Appeal did, between whether a union is the certified representative for purposes of collective bargaining and whether the same union is the certified representative for purposes of invoking the MMC process to resolve bargaining disputes. The Court of Appeal's interpretation of the MMC statute would invite employers to challenge the representative status of previously-certified unions and undermine a large part of what the Legislature sought to accomplish in adopting the MMC statute to revive dormant bargaining relationships and produce collective bargaining agreements that benefit farm workers.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. The ALRA and MMC Amendments

Congress excluded farm workers from the protections of the NLRA. See 29 U.S.C. §152(3). In 1975, the California Legislature adopted, and Governor Jerry Brown signed, the ALRA, Labor Code §1140 et seq., to ameliorate the poor working conditions of farm workers and harm to the public interest caused by labor conflict in the most important segment of the California economy. This landmark statute gave farm workers in California for the first time the right to elect a representative for purposes of collective bargaining with their employer and protected that right from employer interference. The preamble to the ALRA states that: "In enacting this legislation the people of the State of California seek to ensure peace in the agricultural fields by guaranteeing justice for all agricultural workers and stability in labor relations." Stats. 1975, Third Ex. Sess., ch. 1, §1, p. 4013; see also Harry Carian Sales v. ALRB (1985) 39 Cal. 3d 209, 223.

The Act also declares that it is

the policy of the State of California to encourage and protect the right of agricultural employees to full freedom of association, selforganization, and designation of representatives of their own choosing, to negotiate the terms and conditions of their employment, and to be free from the interference, restraint, or coercion of employers of labor, or their agents, in the designation of such representatives or in self-organization or in other concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid or protection.

Lab. Code §1140.2.

The ALRB is responsible for overseeing and certifying the results of union representation elections. If farm workers elect a bargaining representative, the certified representative and the employer have a mutual legal obligation to bargain in good faith regarding employment terms and to reduce any resulting agreements to writing. Labor Code §§1153(e), 1155.2(a).

Immediately following passage of the ALRA, the ALRB was inundated both with election petitions and with employers' refusal to accept the new law. While farm workers voted for union representation in hundreds of secret-ballot elections, many agricultural employers, through legal delays, obstinacy, and unfair labor practices, made contract negotiations a futile exercise. As this Court recognized shortly after adoption of the ALRA, employer "dilatory tactics after a representation election" undermine the statutory right to collective bargaining and "substantially impair the strength and support of a union." *J.R. Norton Co. v. ALRB* (1979) 26 Cal. 3d 1, 30.

In case after case, growers were found to have intentionally delayed the collective bargaining process through surface bargaining, to have intentionally avoided good-faith resolutions of contract disputes, and to have disregarded collective bargaining agreements once made. See, e.g., Mario Saikhon, Inc. and United Farm Workers of Am. (1987) 13 ALRB No. 8; Paul W. Bertuccio and United Farm Workers of Am. (1984) 10 ALRB No. 16; Tex-Cal Land Mgmt., Inc. and United Farm Workers of Am. (1985) 11 ALRB No. 28. Even when unions had the resources to successfully challenge the employer's refusal to bargain and other antiunion tactics, legal proceedings often took years to resolve, during which time employees had no contract. For example, this Court in Rivcom Corp. v. ALRB (1983) 34 Cal. 3d 743, affirmed the ALRB's decision finding a grower's anti-union tactics and refusal to bargain unlawful, but more than five years passed between certification in 1978 and this Court's decision in 1983 — during which all the employees who voted for the union were fired and replaced, and were never able to bargain or enforce a contract. Id. at 763; see also Lindeleaf v. ALRB (1986) 41 Cal. 3d 861, 881 (recognizing

that "Lindeleaf workers have endured a prolonged delay — more than five years — because of the protracted proceedings" filed by employer); *Harry Carian Sales*, 39 Cal. 3d at 219 (upholding 1980 bargaining order based on more than 30 unfair labor practices committed by employer); *Highland Ranch v. ALRB* (1981) 29 Cal. 3d 848, 851-52 (upholding ALRB's decision that grower refused to bargain with certified union in violation of the ALRA, four years after certification was granted in 1977). In the 1980s, this Court *twice* addressed the same growers' challenge to the ALRB's make-whole order following a finding that the employer unlawfully refused to bargain, a refusal that continued for *years* after the union had been elected in 1976, despite this Court's conclusion that the employer's refusal to recognize the union's certification was in bad faith. *George Arakelian Farms, Inc. v. ALRB* (1985) 40 Cal. 3d 654, 667; *George Arakelian Farms, Inc. v. ALRB* (1989) 49 Cal. 3d 1279, 1287.

As the years passed, the statute's failure to fulfill its intended purpose of providing a meaningful right to collectively bargain only grew worse. By 2000, 25 years after the passage of the ALRA, of the 428 bargaining units that had voted for UFW as their certified representative – often after protracted anti-union campaigns and egregious employer unfair labor practices – only 185 employers (about 43 percent) had ever entered into contracts. *See* August 31, 2002 Assembly Floor Analysis of SB 1156.

To resolve these long-standing contract disputes and to avoid such disputes going forward, and ultimately to improve the lives of California farm workers, the Legislature amended the ALRA in 2002 to include the MMC process. The Legislature recognized that the existing ALRA had failed to achieve its purpose of enabling farm workers to secure improved wages and working conditions through collective bargaining. *Supra* at 17 (quoting Stats. 2002, ch. 1145, §1); *see also* August 20, 2002 Senate Floor Analysis of SB 1156 ("This bill is necessitated by the continued refusal of

agricultural employers to come to the bargaining table once an election has occurred. Without this measure, proponents contend, represented employees will continue to languish without the negotiated contracts they have elected to secure."). As Governor Davis explained in signing the MMC legislation:

In nearly 60% of the cases in which a union wins an election, management never agrees to a contract. For example, in one case, the parties have been negotiating since 1975. The appeals process, coupled with a complicated formula for determining damages, often takes so long that the farmworkers can no longer be located by the time the award is made. The bottom line is that too many people who were supposed to benefit from the protections of the ALRA are left without a contract, without a remedy and without hope.

Governor's Signing Message, Historical and Statutory Notes, Labor Code §1164, Annotated California Codes (West 2011).

The statutory amendments permit the certified union or the employer to request referral to MMC under specified circumstances. Labor Code §1164(a). For bargaining units in which unions were "certified prior to January 1, 2003," either the union or the employer may request referral to MMC beginning 90 days after service of "a renewed demand to bargain." *Id.* §1164(a)(1), §1164.11. For these previously-certified unions, and their corresponding employers, the Legislature then further limited requests to MMC to those where: (a) the parties had failed to reach agreement for at least one year after the date on which the union made its initial request to bargain; (b) the employer committed at least one unfair labor practice; and (c) the parties had never previously agreed to a contract. §§1164.11. Going forward from January 1, 2003, for any union certified after that date, the

statute permits either party to request referral to MMC beginning 90 days after service of an initial request to bargain. *Id.* §1164(a)(2).<sup>1</sup>

Upon receipt of a declaration establishing that the statutory prerequisites are met, the ALRB must "immediately issue an order directing the parties to mandatory mediation and conciliation of their issues," and request a list of nine mediators from the California State Mediation and Conciliation Service. *Id.* §1164(b). The parties then jointly select an experienced, neutral mediator to assist the parties in reaching agreement, and proceed first to mediation for a thirty-day period (which may be extended upon mutual agreement of the parties). *Id.* §1164(b), (c). The process includes the opportunity for the parties to make an evidentiary record supporting their respective positions. *Id.* §1164(d); §1164.3(a).

If mediation does not resolve all outstanding issues in dispute, the mediator must certify that the mediation process has been exhausted and then file a report with the ALRB with recommendations for resolving the remaining issues and establishing the final terms of the CBA. *Id.* §1164(d). The report must "include the basis for the mediator's determination" and

sponsored, or assisted in the filing of a decertification petition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In 2012, the Legislature amended the MMC process to reduce the number of days following certification before a union or employer can invoke the MMC process from 180 to 90 under Labor Code §1164(a)(2), and added two more circumstances under which the parties may request MMC, both of which focus on employer interference with the representation process:

<sup>(3) 60</sup> days after the board has certified the labor organization pursuant to subdivision (f) of Section 1156.3, or(4) 60 days after the board has dismissed a decertification petition upon a finding that the employer has unlawfully initiated, supported,

*Id.* §1164(a)(3), (4). Labor Code §1156.3(f), also added to the ALRA in 2012, permits certification of a union where the level of employer interference is so great as to permanently taint the election process.

"be supported by the record." *Id.* In 2004, the Legislature amended the MMC statute to direct that:

- (e) In resolving the issues in dispute, the mediator may consider those factors commonly considered in similar proceedings, including:
  - (1) The stipulations of the parties.
  - (2) The financial condition of the employer and its ability to meet the costs of the contract in those instances where the employer claims an inability to meet the union's wage and benefit demands.
  - (3) The corresponding wages, benefits, and terms and conditions of employment in other collective bargaining agreements covering similar agricultural operations with similar labor requirements.
  - (4) The corresponding wages, benefits, and terms and conditions of employment prevailing in comparable firms or industries in geographical areas with similar economic conditions, taking into account the size of the employer, the skills, experience, and training required of the employees, and the difficulty and nature of the work performed.
  - (5) The average consumer prices for goods and services according to the California Consumer Price Index, and the overall cost of living, in the area where the work is performed.

#### Id. §1164(e).

Either party may then seek review of the mediator's report before the ALRB on the ground that:

- (1) a provision of the collective bargaining agreement set forth in the mediator's report is unrelated to wages, hours, or other conditions of employment . . .
- (2) a provision of the collective bargaining agreement . . . is based on clearly erroneous findings of material fact, or

(3) a provision of the collective bargaining agreement . . . is arbitrary or capricious in light of the mediator's findings of fact.

Id. §1164.3(a). If any of these grounds are established, the ALRB must remand the report to the mediator for revision and to permit an additional 30-day period of mediation. Id. §1164.3(c). If the parties again do not resolve the remaining disputes, the mediator then submits a second report to the ALRB. Id. The parties may then again invoke the process for seeking review of that report. Id. §1164.3(d).

A party also may seek review from the ALRB if "(1) the mediator's report was procured by corruption, fraud, or other undue means, (2) there was corruption in the mediator, or (3) the rights of the petitioning party were substantially prejudiced by the misconduct of the mediator." *Id.* §1164.3(e). If any of these grounds are established, the ALRB must vacate the report and appoint a new mediator. *Id.* 

If no party seeks review, or the ALRB concludes that a challenge to the mediator's report lacks merit, the ALRB issues a final order establishing the terms of the CBA and "order[s] it into immediate effect." Labor Code §1164.3(b),(d). The ALRB's final order is then subject to review in the Court of Appeal or Supreme Court. *Id.* §1164.5. The Legislature also provided for enforcement of the ALRB's final order by the Superior Courts and that, if there is an appeal, "[n]o final order of the board shall be stayed during any appeal under this section, unless the court finds that (1) the appellant will be irreparably harmed by the implementation of the board's order, and (2) the appellant has demonstrated a likelihood of success on appeal." *Id.* §1164.3(f).

Finally, to avoid a drain on the agency's resources (and implicitly recognizing the long back-log of previously certified unions), the Legislature limited the number of MMC petitions by one party that could

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