### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

GERAWAN FARMING, INC.,

Petitioner,

FEB 25 2016

v.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

AGRICULTURAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD,—

Deputy

Respondent,

FILED WITH PERMISSION

UNITED FARM WORKERS OF AMERICA,

Real Party in Interest.

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F068526 ALRB Case No. 2013-MMC-003 [39 ALRB No. 17]

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F068676 Fresno County Superior Court, Case No. 13CECG01408 The Honorable Donald S. Black, Judge

### COMBINED ANSWERING BRIEF OF PETITIONER

David A. Schwarz (159376)\*
IRELL & MANELLA LLP
1800 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 900
Los Angeles, California 90067-4276
Telephone: (310) 277-1010

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

### **ARGUMENT**

I. No State Has Ever Before Imposed Interest Arbitration On A Private Company By Government Fiat

The UFW accuses the Fifth District of "ignoring the long history of interest arbitration" and treating the MMC process as a "new and strange phenomenon." (UFW Br. at p. 30.) But, as its seven-page exegesis on interest arbitration demonstrates, interest arbitration is limited to two categories, neither of which is applicable here. First, where the parties have "voluntarily agreed." (*Id.* at p. 31.) Gerawan never agreed to interest arbitration, nor did its employees. Second, to "prevent labor disputes that could adversely impact the public interest [*i.e.*, public health and safety]," such as for police, firefighters, transit workers, and hospital workers. (*Ibid.*) Almost invariably, these situations involve governmental or quasi-government employers and they almost always involve situations

7310176 - 20 -

where the law prohibits the workers from striking. That does not exist here. As the UFW recognizes, "farm workers in California have the right to strike." (*Id.* at p. 36.)

At the UFW's urging, California has pushed interest arbitration where it has never gone before—to private sector companies engaged in ordinary commerce. The fact that compulsory interest arbitration is recognized in the public employment context does not create a basis for the State to impose it in the private employer context. Missing entirely from the ALRB's brief, and relegated to a footnote in the UFW's brief, is *Wolff*—a U.S. Supreme Court case that struck down an interest arbitration system similar to the MMC statute, and which remains good law.

# A. Consent is the linchpin of arbitration; there is no consent here.

Arbitration "is a matter of consent, not coercion." (Volt Info. Scis., Inc. v. Bd. of Trs. of Leland Stanford Junior Univ. (1989) 489 U.S. 468, 479.) "[A] party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit." (Pinnacle Museum Tower Assn. v. Pinnacle Mkt. Dev. (US), LLC (2012) 55 Cal.4th 223, 236; see also AT&T Techs., Inc. v. Commc'ns Workers of Am. (1986) 475 U.S. 643, 648–49.)<sup>11</sup>

7310176 - 21 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Even in those rare cases in which a party has the unilateral power to bind a non-signatory to arbitration, this Court has required either that the parties be in a special agency or fiduciary relationship or that the non-signatory be given adequate notice. (*Pinnacle Museum Tower Assn.*, supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 238; Ruiz v. Podolsky (2010) 50 Cal.4th 838, 853–54.)

The notion that an agreement to arbitrate is a "bargained-for" exchange holds in the labor context as well. (14 Penn Plaza LLC v. Pyett (2009) 556 U.S. 247, 257; Litton Fin. Printing Div. v. NLRB (1991) 501 U.S. 190, 199–200) [arbitration is "a consensual surrender of the economic power which the parties are otherwise free to utilize" in the absence of agreement]; Gateway Coal Co. v. Mine Workers (1974) 414 U.S. 368, 374 ["The law compels a party to submit his grievance to arbitration only if he has contracted to do so."].)

In NLRB v. Jones & Laughlin (1937) 301 U.S. 1, the Supreme Court upheld the NLRA against a constitutional due process challenge specifically because "[t]he Act does not compel agreements between employers and employees. It does not compel any agreement whatever." (Id. at p. 45.) The right to freedom of contract has been cited repeatedly as the basis for upholding the constitutionality of collective bargaining. (See, e.g., H.K. Porter Co. v. NLRB (1970) 397 U.S. 99.)

In *H.K. Porter*, the Court held that the right to resist concessions meant that the employer did not have to accept a dues check-off provision, and the NLRB could not impose them. To do so "would violate the fundamental premises on which the Act is based—private bargaining under governmental supervision of the procedure alone, without any official compulsion over the actual terms of the contract." (*Id.* at p. 108 [footnotes omitted]; see also *NLRB v. American Nat'l Ins. Co.* (1952) 343 U.S. 395,

7310176 - 22 -

404 ["[T]he Board may not, either directly or indirectly, compel concessions or otherwise sit in judgment upon the substantive terms of collective bargaining agreements."].)

The ALRA is patterned after the NLRA and includes language identical to Section 8(d) of the national act, which provides the constitutional safeguard against forced contracting. (See Lab. Code §1155.2(a).) This provision was not changed by the MMC statute.

B. The public safety justification for compulsory interest arbitration is not applicable here; *Wolff* controls.

Non-consensual compulsory arbitration is rarely, if ever, imposed except in public or quasi-public employment situations where strikes are prohibited. This tradeoff is at the core of every case Respondents cite, <sup>12</sup> such as public utilities, <sup>13</sup> police, firefighters, and other public employees, <sup>14</sup>

7310176 - 23 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> E.g., Medford Firefighters Ass'n, Local No. 1431 v. City of Medford (Or. App. 1979) 595 P.2d 1268, 1270–71 ["One of the differences [between collective bargaining in the public and private sectors], binding arbitration, is essentially a quid pro quo for the prohibition of strikes by firemen."]; Town of Arlington v. Bd. of Conciliation & Arbitration (Mass. 1976) 352 N.E.2d 914, 922 [same].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> E.g., Bd. of Locomotive Firemen & Enginemen v. Chicago, B. & Q. R. Co. (D.D.C.) 225 F.Supp. 11, 21, aff'd (D.C.Cir. 1964) 331 F.2d 1020 ["[I]t is elementary that railroads, as common carriers for hire, are engaged in a public employment affecting the public interest and, therefore, are subject to legislative control."].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> E.g., Fire Fighters Union v. City of Vallejo (1974) 12 Cal.3d 608, 622–23 ["[T]he arbitration and no-strike provisions were interdependent."].

and hospitals receiving public funding. (See *Bayscene Resident Negotiators v. Bayscene Mobilehome Park* (1993) 15 Cal. App. 4th 119, 132.)

Except in cases of national emergency, such as war, no legislature has adopted, and no court has approved, any scheme that would compel a private employer to adjudicate the terms of employment with its employees or force workers to surrender their right to strike. (See Catherwood, supra, 260 N.E.2d at 510–11 ["compulsory arbitration has been used hardly at all and there is a dearth of legal analysis and precedent in the courts to illuminate the principles to be applied to this drastic remedy"].) Even in situations where public sector interest arbitration is used, the state has made the deliberate choice as to its own employment relationships with its own employees to offer binding interest arbitration as a fair exchange for depriving its employees "of such economic weapons as strikes and work stoppages which are available to employees in private employment." (City of Biddeford by Bd. of Ed. v. Biddeford Teachers Ass'n (Me. 1973) 304 A.2d 387, 398.)

7310176 - 24 -

<sup>15</sup> E.g., Fairview Hosp. Ass'n v. Pub. Bldg. Serv. & Hosp. & Institutional Emp. Union (Minn. 1954) 64 N.W.2d 16, 28 [characterizing hospitals as part of "a field of enterprise in which the public has a direct and vital interest, distinct from almost any other type of business."]; Mount St. Mary's Hosp. of Niagara Falls v. Catherwood (1970) 260 N.E.2d 508, 518 [same].

The constitutional foundation for these limiting principles is *Charles Wolff Packing Co. v. Court of Indus. Relations* ("Wolff I") (1923) 262 U.S. 522. Writing for a unanimous court, Chief Justice Taft struck down the Kansas Industrial Relations Act, which gave a three-judge industrial court the power to resolve labor disputes as to a single employer by setting wages, hours, and conditions of employment, and to bar strikes if it found "the peace and health of the public imperiled by such controversy" in any industry "affected with a public interest." (Id. at p. 524.)

The Court stated that the Kansas act "curtails the right of the employer on the one hand, and of the employee on the other, to contract about his affairs." (Wolff I, supra, at p. 534; see also Dorchy v. Kansas (1924) 264 U.S. 286; Charles Wolff Packing Co. v. Court of Indus.

Relations (Wolff II) (1925) 267 U.S. 552, 569 [collectively, "Wolff"].)<sup>16</sup>

The Court condoned such "joint compulsion" only where required by exigent circumstances, or as to those industries, such as public utilities, "where the obligation to the public of continuous service is direct, clear, and mandatory, and arises as a contractual condition express or implied of entering the business either as owner or worker." (Wolff I, supra, at p. 543 [citing Wilson v. New (1917) 243 U.S. 332, 364].)

7310176 - 25 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See P. Moreno, The American State from the Civil War to the New Deal (2013) at p. 194 ["[AFL President] Samuel Gompers had denounced the Kansas statute, which prohibited strikes, as establishing involuntary servitude."].)

Wolff echoed Taft's earlier admonition that collective action "was essential to give laborers [the] opportunity to deal on equality with their employer." (American Foundries v. Tri-City Council (1921) 257 U.S. 184, 209 [cited with approval in Iskanian v. CLS Transp. Los Angeles, LLC (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348, 400, fn.3 (conc. & dis. opn. of Werdegar, J.)].) The Wolff scheme "involves a more drastic exercise of control . . . upon the employee than upon the employer," and could not be justified as to private employees who, unlike public sector employees, have no "obligation to the public of continuous service. . . somewhat equivalent to the [obligation] of officers and the enlistment of soldiers and sailors in military service." (Wolff I, supra, at p. 541.)

These distinctions drew the constitutional line between private and public sector interest arbitration, and the trade-off where the public employees' obligation of "continuous service" was a condition of employment, and not subject to a strike.<sup>17</sup> (See United Steelworkers of Am.

7310176 - 26 -

<sup>17</sup> Hess dismisses Wolff as a relic of the "bygone" Lochner era. (Hess Collection Winery v. ALRB ("Hess") (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 1584, 1598–99.) This is not a basis to avoid those aspects of Wolff that remain good law. While the Court disapproved Wolff's holding concerning wage-fixing, Lincoln Federal Labor Union No. 19129 v. Northwestern Iron & Metal Co. (1949) 335 U.S. 525, Lincoln expressly noted that "[c]onsiderations involved in the constitutional validity of those other parts of the [Kansas] statute are not relevant here." (Id. at p. 536, fn.6.) Wolff did not rely on decisions such as Adair v. United States (1908) 208 U.S. 161 or Coppage v. Kansas (1915) 236 U.S. 1, 17, which invalidated legislative protections from "yellow dog" contracts on substantive due process grounds. Unlike these cases, Wolff highlighted the need to protect

v. United States (1959) 361 U.S. 39, 75 [dis. opn. Of Douglas, J.] [citing Wolff as the reason why collective bargaining, not compulsory arbitration, is the norm].) Wolff is often cited by modern courts when discussing whether non-consensual binding arbitration is constitutional. (See Catherwood, supra, 260 N.E.2d at pp. 500, 503; see also Healy v. Onstott (1987) 192 Cal.App.3d 612, 616 [due process requires de novo review of arbitral determination]; Bayscene, supra, 15 Cal.App.4th at p. 13 [same]; Peick v. Pension Benefit Guaranty Corp. (7th Cir. 1983) 724 F.2d 1247, 1277 [distinguishing between compulsory arbitration of public and private disputes]; United Farm Workers Nat. Union v. Babbitt (D. Ariz. 1978) 449 F.Supp. 449, 466, vacated on other grounds (1979) 442 U.S. 936.)

Wolff sets out the conditions for the imposition of compulsory arbitration that every court, and every case cited by Respondents, has followed since. (United Steelworkers of Am. v. Warrior & Gulf Navigation Co. (1960) 363 U.S. 574, 578, fn.4 [compulsory arbitration is deemed a necessary "quid pro quo' for the agreement not to strike"].)

7310176 - 27 -

collective rights, a view later vindicated by the New Deal Court, which upheld "the legality of collective action on the part of employees in order to safeguard their proper interests'... against constitutional challenge." (*Iskanian*, *supra*, 59 Cal.4th at pp. 400–01 [conc. & dis. op. of Werdegar, J.] [citing *Jones & Laughlin*, *supra*, 301 U.S. at pp. 33–34].)

# C. Government imposed interest arbitration infringes employer and employee rights.

The MMC statute here empowers a union, upon demand, to enable a private mediator to impose restrictions on employees' rights of free association, of access to courts to hear individual grievances against their employer, and on free speech through the imposition of agency fees, among other restrictions. It does so without any indicia of the individual's consent to grant such power. The individual consensual link giving the union the right to give away individual rights or to demand compulsory fees either does not exist at all or has been broken.

Collective bargaining rests on the premise of majority rule. This "majority-rule concept is unquestionably at the center of our federal labor policy" (NLRB v. Allis-Chalmers (1967) 388 U.S. 175, 180 [quotation omitted]), and is a fundamental component of the ALRA. A duly elected union is given "powers comparable to those possessed by a legislative body both to create and restrict the rights of those whom it represents." (Steele v. Louisville & N.R. Co. (1944) 323 U.S. 192, 202.) In the collective bargaining setting, majority rule gives a union the authority to "forfeit the economic rights of the bargaining unit, including the right to strike as a trade-off for the employer's acceptance of grievance and arbitration procedures." (Textile Workers v. Lincoln Mills of Ala. (1957) 353 U.S. 448, 455.) It may require employees to arbitrate certain statutory claims,

7310176 - 28 -

including those involving the employees' individual, non-economic rights. (14 Penn Plaza, supra, 556 U.S. at pp. 256–57.) It may limit, or abolish, the ability of workers to picket. (Emporium Capwell Co. v. W. Addition Cmty. Org. (1975) 420 U.S. 50, 69–70.) A court may not nullify such "contractual concessions." (NLRB. v. Magnavox Co. of Tenn. (1974) 415 U.S. 322, 328 [conc. & dis. opn. of Stewart, J.].)

The legitimacy of that power in labor relations derives from employees' "full freedom" to designate representatives of their own choosing for the purposes of collective bargaining. (Lab. Code §1140.2.) That power "presuppose[s] that the selection of the bargaining representative 'remains free." (Magnavox Co., supra, 415 U.S. at p. 325 [quoting Mastro Plastics Corp. v. NLRB (1956) 350 U.S. 270, 280].)

A union "may not surrender rights that impair the employees' choice of their bargaining representative." (*Metro. Edison Co. v. NLRB* (1983) 460 U.S. 693, 708 [quotations and citations omitted].) Where, as here, the right of employees to that choice is at issue, "it is difficult to assume that the incumbent union has no self-interest of its own to serve by perpetuating itself as the bargaining representative." (*Magnavox Co., supra*, 415 U.S. at p. 325 [citation omitted].)

The risk of forfeiture of the workers' right to choose is magnified here by the power of the union to compel contractual arrangements based on so-called "dormant certifications." So viewed, the principle of

7310176 - 29 -

"exclusive representation," without some check as to the legitimacy of the union's standing to represent the workers, risks making the workers "prisoners of the Union." (Emporium Capwell Co., supra, 420 U.S. at p. 73 [dsn. opn. of Douglas, J.].)

The imposition of the "security agreement" illustrates this, as would the potential "election" bar, should the MMC contract be imposed.

Because "the question of union security [is premised] on collective bargaining and not compulsion, . . . [a] requirement that employees be compelled to become or remain members of a labor organization" would have no place in the compulsory interest arbitration process. (*N.J. Bell Tel. Co. v. Commc'ns Workers of Am., N. J. Traffic Div. No. 55* (N.J. 1950) 75 A.2d 721, 728.) Here, the mediator imposed his own vision of public policy in spite of California's position of "benign neutrality" toward union security agreements, which should be left "to collective bargaining agreements freely entered into." (*Pasillas v. ALRB* (1984) 156 Cal.App.3d 312, 346.)

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